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Coventry’s History to 1251 to 1500
Death on Blacklowhill

ABOUT one mile outside Warwick lies hidden a wooded hill known as Blacklow Hill. It was here that a king’s favourite met a sudden and violent end with the blow of an axe.
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The knight in question was one Piers Gaveston, a companion of Edward II since he was a young man. During their teenage years rumours came to the ear of Edward I, via Walter Langton, Bishop of Coventry and Lichfield, that his son’s relationship with Gaveston was not “natural”.

This culminated in the king throwing the prince to the ground by his hair and violently attacking him. Gaveston was banished and Edward showered him with gifts before tearfully waving him goodbye.

Edward I, also known as the hammer of the Scots, died in July 1307 and on his death bed made Edward swear not to bring Gaveston back. The prince swore he wouldn’t, then ordered for Gaveston's return.

On his return Gaveston was created Earl of Cornwall, much to the astonishment and anger of the [image: image3.jpg]


Barons. The Bishop of Coventry and Lichfield, who told the king of his relationship, was imprisoned and all his estates and property handed to Gaveston.

In Scotland Robert the Bruce was leading a rebellion and Edward, who was now king, like his father had to lead an army to take on the Scots. Unlike his father, however, Edward only reached Ayrshire before turning back, it is said, because he wished to get back to Gaveston who was returning from a visit to the continent.

After Gaveston’s arrival, Edward dissolved his father’s government, not only dismissing many who had served his father well, but also stripping many of their estates and throwing some into gaol.

Then, to add insult to injury, he gave a vast treasure, which Edward I had collected to finance a holy crusade, to Gaveston.

Gaveston began to get greedy and made it clear he wanted more, Edward bestowed upon him the title of Lord Chamberlain of England and gave him a large estate in Geienne. Then, to create an image of normality, he married Gaveston to his niece Margaret de Clare.

In June 1308 Edward sailed to France to marry the Princess Isabella (the marriage was contracted many years before). He left Gaveston as Regent of England, giving him absolute power over the nation. Giving this great title to a foreign knight was considered the final insult to the Barons of England.

Gaveston made things worse as the power went to his head. He lorded it over everyone and treated the barons with utter contempt. He gave insulting nicknames to many of the most powerful barons and lords.

Guy Beauchamp, Earl of Warwick, he called the Black Dog of Arden because of his dark complexion. The Earl of Lancaster he called Play actor, the Earl of Pembroke Joseph the Jew and the Duke of Gloucester, Whoreson.

Edward’s marriage celebrations were cut short so that he could return to Gaveston and on his return all the nobles lined the quay waiting for the king and queen.

Isabella was said to be one of the most beautiful women in Europe, but on landing Edward ignored everyone including his new queen and rushed into the arms of Gaveston, much to the disdain of all present.

Edward’s coronation took place on February 24, 1308 and Gaveston was allowed to wear the royal purple and carry the crown. He soon began to treat the queen with contempt, insulting her and wearing jewels which were given as part of her dowry.

Enough was enough and the barons threatened civil war and the removal of the king if Gaveston was not banished. Gaveston took an oath on threat of excommunication that he would never return and left the country.

A few weeks later the barons discovered that he had been made Governor of Ireland. During his exile Edward worked on his return and wrote to the Pope to gain a dispensation to remove Gaveston’s oath. He also promised major changes should he be able to return.

Eventually Parliament, impressed by the king’s humility, agreed and within the week Gaveston was back in England. Things, however, did not change and soon the Queen was writing to her father complaining of her treatment and Gaveston’s affections.

Twice Edward called parliament for the barons to air their grievances, but none attended fearing Gaveston’s power. A third parliament, this time without Gaveston’s presence, was agreed and the barons attended, armed.

Edward was completely in their power and agreed to reforms not only to the state but to the royal household. Edward then left London and his queen and spent the following winter, spring and summer at Berwick with Gaveston.

Then he was summoned to attend the barons at parliament where he was made to sign documents stating that the king could not give peerages, leave the country, form an army, choose a regent, could not choose officers of the crown or governors of foreign possessions.

The barons also insisted Gaveston be banished on pain of death. The King signed the documents and soon once again found himself waving a tearful goodbye to his “beloved Perrot”.

Edward then dissolved parliament and retired to the north where he immediately began to raise an army to oppose the barons. Within two weeks Gaveston was back at the king’s side at York with all his titles and estates returned, but the barons rode north and surprised the royal party at Newcastle.

Edward and Gaveston escaped in a boat leaving the Queen behind. The barons treated her with great respect, obviously sympathetic to her situation.

[image: image4.jpg]



Then, hearing that Gaveston was at Scarborough Castle, the barons rode further north and prepared to place the stronghold under a state of siege. The castle, however, was in a bad state and could not withstand a prolonged siege so Gaveston was compelled to surrender to the Earl of Pembroke (Joseph the Jew).

He was taken south to Deddington and here spent the night. The following morning he was roughly awoken and forced to dress and brought before the man he styled the Black Dog of Arden, the Earl of Warwick who is said to have grinned and said: “The Black Dog of Arden is come to keep his oath which he was sworn, that you should one day feel his teeth.”

Now it was Warwick’s turn to treat him with contempt. He had Gaveston placed on a mule and taken to Warwick Castle where a deliberately badly played fanfare hailed his arrival.

He was taken to the Great Hall and dragged before the Earl of Warwick, the Earl of Lancaster (Play actor), Gloucester (Whoreson), Hereford and Arundel, who all declared him guilty of breaking his exile, for which the punishment was death.

Gaveston threw himself at their feet and pleaded for pity, but none was prepared to show any mercy. Gaveston was dragged out into the courtyard and tied onto the mule and a small procession trailed out of the castle to Blacklow Hill just outside the town.

Here, as the earls and lords watched, Gaveston was dragged kicking and screaming up the small hill before having his head removed with an axe. It was then held high for all present to see. (This took place on June 19, not the 1st as stated on the monument).

On hearing the news Edward was inconsolable but unable to do anything for now he feared the power of the barons. Gaveston’s body was buried by the king with great pomp at Langley and the monarch also personally paid for masses to be said all over the land for Gaveston’s soul.

Edward reigned for many more years causing more problems with other favourites such as Hugh le Despenser and his son, two of the other intended victims of the Coventry necromancer, John de Nottingham.

Queen Isabella finally had enough and left him to openly live with her lover Roger Mortimer on the continent and plan his downfall. Edward II abdicated his throne at Kenilworth Castle on January 20, 1327 and within a few months was murdered in Berkley Castle in such a way that no mark would show on his body, “with a hotte broche putte thro the secret place posteralle.”

In 1821 a monument was erected by Bertie Greatheed, the owner of Guys Cliffe. On it are these words: In the hollow of this rock was beheaded, on the first day of July, 1312, by Barons as lawless as himself, Piers Gaveston, Earl of Cornwall, the minion of a pitiful King, in life and death, a memorable instance of misrule.
When Coventry was capital 

WHEN Henry V died of sickness while campaigning in France, back in England he left a widowed Queen and a nine- month-old son, Henry. The child was crowned Henry VI of England on September 1, 1422. Two months later he was crowned King of France by his uncle Cardinal Beaufort.
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Richard Beauchamp, the 13th Earl of Warwick, had agreed with his father to act as guardian to the boy. There were, however, others in the background who coveted the English throne, infant mortality being rife in those days.

Henry’s minority ended in 1427 and he began to take the reins of power. But there was one problem, Henry was no warrior like his father – he liked to read, write, study and was extremely pious.

These were not the best attributes for a mediaeval king, especially when others saw the possibilities of taking the throne from such a seemingly weak individual.

The city annals recorded that Henry’s first visit to Coventry took place in 1437 (other sources suggest 1436), stating that ‘King Henry came to Coventry, and kept his Christmas at Kenilworth’.

Henry married Margaret of Anjou in 1445 when he was twenty-four. Before his marriage, when the Duke of Suffolk was negotiating the terms, he signed a treaty giving back French soil, (Maine and Anjou) to Margaret’s father, the landless King of Anjou.

Margaret, an independent, beautiful woman, married Henry with no dowry, something unheard of in these times. This was not good as Henry had little money himself. He depended on his uncle, Cardinal Henry Beaufort, who was extremely rich, to finance the royal court.

The presence of members of the royal court in Coventry is recorded in the Paston Letters which refer to an incident taking place in 1447, on Corpus Christi Day, between eight and nine in the evening.

It appears that Sir James Ormond and Sir Humphrey Stafford were on their way back to the Black Bull Inn in Smithford Street after visiting Lady Shrewsbury in her quarters. At the same time Sir Robert Harcourt, after visiting his mother, was also returning to his quarters and passed the men.

Sir Humphrey’s son, Richard, who was behind them, suddenly fell into a struggle with Sir Robert. Richard was stabbed in the back and killed by one of Harcourt’s men.

Sir Humphrey, hearing the commotion, turned his horse around and with a small group of his men returned to see what was happening.
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As he climbed down from his horse one of Harcourt’s men split his head open with a billhook and he fell down to the ground. Sir Humphrey’s men attacked and killed two of Harcourt’s men and injured others.

Harcourt was indicted for the murder of Richard Stafford (Humphrey’s son) and Sir Humphrey’s men were charged with the murder of two of Harcourt’s men.

In 1448 war resumed with Scotland and France was soon to follow. Coventry supplied 600 armed men under the banner of the Black Ram, a symbol of the wool trade to fight here and abroad.

All was not well abroad and all was not well in England for in 1450 veteran soldier Jack Cade led a force of 30,000 rebels on London, demanding a stop to high taxes and corruption in the King’s Council.

Henry and Margaret, with most of the royal court, left London for the safety of walled Coventry. Some who chose to stay in the capital were brutally murdered.

The following year, on September 22, the King and Queen and court returned again. They were met, as the Leet Book states, by the mayor Richard Boys. All knelt before the king and the mayor said: “Most highest and gracious King you are welcome to your true liege men with all our hearts.”

The mayor’s sergeant then gave the mayor the city mace (the symbol of the city’s power), who kissed it and offered it to the king. Henry then said: “Well said, Sir Mayor, take your horse.”

The mayor did so and rode before the king, clearing the way to the gate of Coventry Priory where the king had his quarters. The king then left and asked them to attend him later which they did and presented him with a tun of wine and twenty oxen.

On the day Henry left the mayor and his peers rode out with him towards Kenilworth, stopping and leaving him at ‘a place called Astill Grove, against a Broad Lane leading to Canley’.

Here Henry declared that from that day Coventry would become the City and County of Coventry and that its bailiffs should now become sheriffs. Thereafter, Coventry became an independent county with its own assize and gaol and so it remained until 1842.

As the king and queen had not yet had a child, there was still the possibility of another lord acquiring the throne. The claimants were Richard, Duke of York, a descendent of Edward III and Edmund, Duke of Somerset, who held a better claim than Henry himself.

He, however, stayed true to the king. Henry and Margaret came again to Coventry in 1453. Margaret, much to the dismay of other claimants to the throne, was now heavily pregnant. The couple as usual stayed in the priory.

In this same year as France was lost, Margaret gave birth to Edward and Henry went ‘mad’. His illness is believed to have been inherited from his grandfather Charles the Bald. It would leave Henry totally incapacitated in a zombie-like trance.

The Duke of York was made Lord Protector and took control of the realm. The Duke of Somerset was blamed for the loss of France and thrown in the Tower.

The following year Henry recovered, dismissed York and released Somerset. York had had a taste of power and didn’t like to give it up.

As for Margaret, she now had a son who was proclaimed Prince of Wales, and wanted him to become king. York was a threat to his destiny, Henry was weak so she took more and more control of state affairs. The Duke of York, although not openly claiming the crown, raised an army who met the king’s at St Albans, thus began the War of the Roses.

This ‘battle’ was little more than a half-hour skirmish in the streets of the town. At the end of it many Lancastrian lords lay dead including the Duke of Somerset, the second claimant to the throne.

Henry received a cut to the neck and hid in a nearby house. Here he was taken by the Duke of York, who swore allegiance to the king. Richard of York thereafter took power as Protector and put many of his Yorkist followers into positions of power.

In 1456, Margaret sought to dismiss York as Protector and, as London was mainly a Yorkist stronghold, she called for a Great Council to be held in Coventry. York, meanwhile, had saved England from an invasion from the Scottish army which had sacked and burned twenty villages.

Henry called for York and the Earl of Warwick, York’s ally, to join him on his royal progress. The two men did and the king received them graciously. Margaret was not as diplomatic, or, one may say, as weak as Henry and received them coldly.

The huge royal train of Henry and Margaret entered Coventry through Spon Gate on Holy Cross Day 1456. Close by the gate stood a pageant wagon, upon which stood the prophets Jeremiah and Isiah. The Great Council gathered in the Great Chamber of the priory. Many Yorkists were invited, but it is said that after registering their attendance, most quickly left again, especially the Duke of York who feared a plot on his life.

In February 1457 the court once again removed to Coventry and another Great Council was called which sat from February 15 - March 14. All the most powerful men of the time were present. The Duke of York, not feeling so threatened, stayed as he was awarded the deputyship of Ireland. This was made as a peace offering from the king who was not at all happy with the way things were in the kingdom.

Henry left for Kenilworth on conclusion of the council and two days later Margaret left. In 1458, while Margaret was at Kenilworth, she came to the city ‘privately’ to see the Mystery Plays.

She did not stay at the priory but chose to stay at the home of Richard Wood, ex-mayor of the city. The queen’s private party included the Duke and Duchess of Buckingham, Lord and Lady Rivers, Elizabeth Woodville and the Countess and Lady Shrewsbury.

The mayor and council sent to Wood’s home a gift for the queen and her ladies to nibble while being entertained. This consisted of 300 paynemaynes (choicest bread), a pipe of red wine, a dozen capons, a dozen great fat pike, a great pan of pescodes (?), another of pippin apples and oranges and two pots of comfits (sweets) and a pot of green ginger.

The company sat eating all day until darkness brought the pageant to an end. Both the king and queen were back at the end of September and stayed for a couple of days before leaving.

The citizens would next see them in more troubled times, for in 1459 the War of the Roses began in earnest. After the Yorkist victory at Blore Heath, the Earl of Warwick joined them in the north.

Margaret collected the Lancastrians together at Coventry and marched in pursuit. The Duke of York and Warwick fled abroad and the royal couple returned to Coventry.

Margaret had by now convinced the king to move the royal court out of London for the foreseeable future and into the safety of their new capital, Coventry.

Parliament was summoned to Coventry, one of the largest ever held, but unlike previous ones it was made up entirely of Lancastrians. It sat in the Chapter House of the Priory for over a month and condemned the Duke of York and all his followers of treason, putting an end to any chance of reconciliation between the Houses of York and Lancaster.

During this time the king and queen were no doubt often entertained in St Mary’s Guildhall and both became brother and sister of the guild. The hall’s Great North Window shows Henry VI and his ancestors, while the tapestry below shows the royal couple and other noted people of this period.

The tapestry was actually made in the reign of Henry VII during a period when the king promoted the image of his predecessor as it helped to legitimise his claim to the throne.

In fact Henry VII was trying to get Henry VI canonised. Coventry’s addition to Henry’s veneration was no doubt well received when he became a brother of the guild in 1500.

As for Henry and Margaret, Henry suffered on and off with bouts of his 'illness' and Margaret continued the fight. Many bloody battles were fought during the War of the Roses and Henry found himself twice imprisoned in the Tower of London.

Here he was later murdered on the ascension of Edward, Duke of York (son of Richard, killed at Wakefield) who was crown Edward IV. In 1462 the Earl of Warwick crushed the Lancastrians and Margaret fled to France.

Warwick tried to control Edward but couldn’t and he later changed sides, after agreeing that his daughter married the Prince of Wales. He returned to England and restored Henry to the throne. In 1471 Edward returned and Warwick was killed at Barnet.

The Prince of Wales was murdered before Edward IV after the battle of Tewsbury and Margaret taken prisoner. While a captive Margaret was informed of her son’s murder and was brought before reinstated Edward IV, a prisoner to Coventry, her ‘secret arbour’.

It is recorded that when she was brought before Edward she screamed abuse and brought curses down upon his head. Queen Margaret spent many years imprisoned and was finally ransomed and returned to France where she died almost in poverty.

As for good, pious King Henry, whose worst swear word was “By St John”, he was quickly despatched, stabbed, they said, by Richard of Gloucester (later Richard III). When his body was exhumed in 1900 it looked as if the king who at the time was reported as having died from melancholy was actually bludgeoned to death.

It was not, however, the end, for over 300 miracles were later ascribed to the king and calls were made for his canonisation into Saint Henry. The process stopped when Henry VIII split from Rome, but appears to have now been re-started by a society dedicated to the memory of Henry VI, the saint who never was.

Castles of Democracy 

Kenilworth Castle
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The French knight Simon de Montfort gained Kenilworth Castle through his marriage to Eleanor, the sister of Henry III. In 1254 Henry III gave over Kenilworth entirely to Simon and Eleanor for life.

Simon had gained power and called for democratic rule, something unheard of in 13th century England. Henry was an unpopular king, squandering money on schemes including the taking by arms of Sicily.

To raise money for this he summoned the Great Council on May 2, 1258. England was at this time suffering a famine and the people were not in the mood for increased taxation.

The Barons sensed trouble and many appeared at the assembly in full armour. One man was called to represent them, Simon de Montfort of Kenilworth Castle.

Simon spoke for the barons, calling for the formation of a representative parliament. Henry could do little as Simon de Montfort now became the most powerful man in England.

All came to a head in 1263. John Giffard, who held Kenilworth for Earl Simon, attacked Warwick Castle which was held by the Earl of Warwick for the King.

The Earl and Countess were taken to Kenilworth Castle and held for ransom. At this time Earl Simon had returned to England and built up an army, being once again joined by the barons.

He forced Henry to agree to his terms and a hollow truce ensured. This broke down and led to the Battle of Lewes in which Henry, and his brother Richard were taken prisoner.

From Kenilworth Castle, at Christmas 1264, Earl Simon issued documents in Henry’s name calling for all sheriffs in England to cause the election of two knights for each shire, two citizens for each city and two burgesses for each borough.

This parliament, held on January 20, 1265, was presided over by William Trussell of Billesley, Warwickshire. This was the first true English Parliament.

Things, however, were not running well as some barons worked behind Simon’s back to bring about his downfall.

Henry’s son, Prince Edward, escaped and brought together an army. Earl Simon ordered his son, also called Simon, to bring reinforcements.

This he did but as he passed through a ravine near Kenilworth his forces were ambushed. Young Simon escaped and took refuge in the castle.

Meanwhile, Edward continued south to meet Earl Simon near Evesham. On approaching Earl Simon’s army, Edward ordered the banners captured at Kenilworth should be displayed.

This made Earl Simon’s army believe that these were reinforcements. It was quickly realised this was not the case.

As Earl Simon disappeared into the frenzied mass he cried out “Let us commit our souls to God for our bodies are theirs”.

Earl Simon’s body was later found partly naked and mutilated. Simon de Montfort was dead, but his seeds of reform were well and truly planted. Some who survived headed back to Kenilworth Castle and here they were joined by members of their families.

All mourned the loss of Sir Simon the Righteous. Young Simon was promised clemency if he surrendered the castle, but he refused.

Simon left for France to gather reinforcements and Henry unexpectedly arrived at Kenilworth set up his camp and placed the castle under siege.

In Simon’s absence the castle was under the command of Henry de Hastings, a descendant of the Earls of Chester who owned much of Coventry. He again turned down demands to surrender.

Henry called a convention in which the clergy recommended terms of surrender on pain of excommunication, but once again the garrison refused.

After 40 days grace the Archbishop of Canterbury mounted a high platform before the castle and, before all, performed the ceremony of excommunication on all within. The besieged responded by putting their own white-robed man, Philip Porpeis, a surgeon, on the battlements.

He performed a mocking ceremony back, excommunicating the king, the archbishop and all their men. Six hard months passed, mainly quiet days with the occasional barrage of arrows or stones flying over the castle walls.

A great council was held in Coventry and terms of surrender were again offered and refused.

Henry ordered carpenters to gather and more men to lay a final and decisive attack on the castle. But before this came about the besieged were forced to give in through lack of food.

All finally left the castle on December 21, 1266. Many had already died of disease and lay buried within its precincts.

There were two days of provisions left in the castle. The castle was given to Edmund, Earl of Lancaster, the king’s youngest son. He passed the castle on to his son Thomas, who enlarged the park and built a chapel and was executed by Edward II for his involvement in the beheading of the king’s favourite.

Warwick Castle
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Warwick Castle’s history over this period was perhaps not quite as eventful as Kenilworth. In 1266 Henry III made it his headquarters while enlarging his army for the siege of Kenilworth.

Guy de Beauchamp, Earl of Warwick, brought Piers Gaveston, a prisoner here. On Guy’s death, Hugh le Despenser, Edward II’s favourite, acquired the castle and in February 1326 entertained the king here.

The castle was then passed on to Thomas de Beauchamp, who around the year 1345, started a massive building programme which basically began to create the castle we have today.

Thomas’s son, another Thomas, carried on his father’s plans after his death, building the castle other great tower, Guy’s Tower, named after their legendary ancestor.

The title of Earl of Warwick eventually passed to Richard Neville, who later earned the title Warwick the Kingmaker.

The Kingmaker married his daughter, Isabel, to the Duke of Clarence and when he was killed at the battle of Barnet his title reverted to the said duke, brother of the Duke of Gloucester, later Richard III. George, Duke of Clarence, came here to reside and began work on towers such as the Bear Tower and the Clarence Tower.

He, like his brother, liked political intrigue, but the duke came to an untimely end, drowning in a vat of Malmsey wine.

George’s son was taken prisoner by his uncle Richard when he succeeded the title aged eight and he was kept captive until the age of 25 when he was beheaded. Richard claimed the castle and land and for 60 years there were no more Earls of Warwick.

Caludon Castle
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Not all castles in the county were as spectacular as Kenilworth and Warwick. There were smaller ones such as Caludon Castle, the ruins of one end of the banqueting hall being all that remains.

Traditionally, the castle was the birthplace of Saint George and although no ancient history is known of the castle itself, the Caludon area is very old, taking its name from Saxon-British Calloddon, meaning mossy hill.

The first record of Caludon Castle is when Ranulph Blundeville, Earl of Chester gave it to John de Segrave, who had accompanied him on a trip to the Holy Land.

He was given the building at a peppercorn rent of one sparrowhawk per year. John later obtained permission from Edward I to fortify Caludon and surround it with a moat.

His son, Stephen, succeeded in 1354 and was granted further licences to extend, embattle, make a park, repair the moat and rebuild the chapel.

John’s grandson, another John, later inherited the building and passed it on through his daughter Elizabeth to John, third Lord of Mowbray.

It was their son, Thomas, who was alleged by Henry Bolingbroke to have uttered treasonable words concerning King Richard II. Thomas was banished and never returned. His elder son, who inherited the title, was executed on the order of Henry Bolingbroke when he deposed Richard II and became Henry IV.

A county of chapels  

Holy Trinity

HOLY Trinity originated as an exterior chapel to the great Priory church. The first recorded vicar of the church was Ralph de Sowe in the 13th century.
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Like St Michael’s, Trinity became the home of the guilds chapels, the Chapel for Our Lady being mentioned in 1392 when the Corpus Christi Guild endowed a priest there to sing mass for King Richard II and his queen and the realm of England.

The church’s greatest treasure is its original painted 15th century ceiling and the doom painting that now awaits re-exposure to the eyes of man. It shows God seated on a rainbow, sitting in judgement of mankind on doomsday.

The Virgin Mary and St John the Baptist are below, surrounded by the apostles. People are rising from their graves and some are judged safe while others decend into hell’s mouth on the right.

This painting and others were discovered in 1831 hidden under layers of soot and varnish. Restoration is now underway.

Other treasures of this period include a beautiful 15th century brass eagle lectern and a 15th century stone pulpit decorated, it is thought, with the heads of Henry VI and Margaret of Anjou. It is said to be the tallest in England.

The Charterhouse

Coventry has the only Carthusian priory in the county. It was called St Anne’s but is better known today as the Charterhouse. The Priory was founded in 1381 by William, Lord Zouch and its foundation stone was laid by King Richard II.
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Richard further endowed the order on condition that they maintain twelve poor scholars from seven years old til they accomplish the age of 17 years, there to pray for the good estate of him the said king and his consort, during this life, and for the health of their souls after death.”

The order was founded as a rebellion against the larger rich monastic houses. Here monks restricted themselves to a very plain life, based on oaths of poverty.

The brothers had their own simple isolated cells overlooking a courtyard and talking was generally considered an unnecessary luxury. Coventry’s order was noted as being rather extreme in its poverty and piety and rebellious brothers who may have talked too much were often sent here to learn humility.

Greyfriars Priory

The Greyfriars Friary near the corner of Greyfriars Green had grown quickly from a small chapel to a fully fledged monastic establishment thanks to the popularity of the order.
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The order chose, like the Carthusians, a simple lifestyle, but unlike the Carthusians they liked to speak their minds. In 1446 one of the order, namely Friar Bredon, nailed notices to the door of Coventry’s great priory church complaining of the orders excesses and promised to free the people from the “Pharoah”, meaning the prior.

The prior complained to parliament and Bredon was forced to recant in the city’s churches. He was then banished from the city.

This wasn’t the first time Friar Bredon was involved in an incident. In 1424 John Grace the Lollard preached in Coventry’s Great Park for five days before thousands of people. Lollardism preached the dropping of enforced celibacy, the extension of religious poverty and the translation of the bible into English, but some preachers went too far extending their beliefs into free love, although Grace was not one of those.

Friar Bredon and the prior didn’t appreciate his religious ideas or popularity and, using the excuse that he had no licence to preach, tried to have him physically removed.

This, however, proved unpopular with the people and a mob turned on the religious leaders sending them scurrying back to their extablishments where they hid behind well-bolted doors.

The king was informed of the incident and Grace was arrested. (The seeds of Grace’s Lollardism would bear fruit in the new century, sending Coventrians to their deaths, but we will cover that in the next section).

Coombe & Stoneleigh Abbeys

While some monastic houses eked out their living, others such as Coombe Abbey and Stoneleigh Abbey were very comfortable indeed. Their land covered thousands of acres and scattered around were their home farms, tending to land and sheep, all of which brought in vast profits, based around the Coventry and Cotswold wool trade.
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If this was not enough they gained more cash through rents, leases and tithe payments, paid by many who could little afford the loss of revenue, the common people. By 1310 the abbey was rich enough for the king himself to ask for a loan.

All was well until 1328 when the long-serving Abbot William died and the house was taken over by Abbot Richard. Quickly, and for unknown reasons, the abbey spiralled into decline and debt.

In 1332 the abbey was attacked by local men who assaulted the abbot’s servants and took away certain goods. One would imagine the abbot hadn’t paid a debt so the men were claiming goods to the value of the debt.

Events had gone so far that Edward III ordered an inquiry and three justices were appointed to visit the abbey to find out what exactly was causing it to spiral into deep debt.

William de Clinton and Robert de Stratford took control of the abbot and ran the house on a budget, which put aside money to pay off debts. As the investigation drew to an end Abbot Richard left or was told to leave the abbey and his post was taken by Abbot Geoffrey.

A second Abbot Geoffrey was appointed in 1339 and things began to improve slowly and by 1344 things had returned to normal and the abbey began to acquire more land, but in June 1345 the unthinkable happened . . . Abbot Geoffrey was savagely murdered in the dead of night.

The king ordered an investigation, but the findings have been lost in time, so we do not know how or why Abbot Geoffrey died. Many unusual events at the abbey to this day are blamed on the ghost of the unfortunate abbot Geoffrey.

Between 1348 and 1379 there were four major outbreaks of the plague in the county and many monastic houses, including Coombe, suffered. Coombe never quite recovered from these events.

When, in the 1440s, Abbot Atherstone took control he became rather ruthless in gathering rents, by force if necessary, smashing down doors and stealing goods and cattle. He suffered a dose of his own medicine for in July 1451, Warwickshire knight Sir Thomas Mallory, author of Le Morte de Arthur, broke out of gaol.

On the following day he, with a number of disgruntled yeomen, husbandmen and grooms, attacked the abbey.

These men, later described as malefactors and breakers of the king’s peace, had more than likely suffered at the abbot’s hands and Mallory, full of ideas of Arthurian chivalry, wanted to champion their cause against the corrupt abbot.

This was done in the dead of night by smashing down 18 doors. Once in the abbot’s chambers two chests were broken open and a bag of gold worth £25 and a bag of silver worth £21 were taken.

From the church they took gold and silver rings, psalters and other items. The attack seemed to work, for Abbot Richard had learned his lesson and halted his previous heavy handed tactics.

As for Sir Thomas, he was later captured and imprisoned in Newgate Prison, London, and it was here he wrote his famed Life of Arhur, the tale of chivalry, magic and good against evil. In 1470 Coombe experienced a great moment in its history, for as the War of the Roses raged King Edward IV rested here while in pursuit of the Earl of Warwick, who had changed sides. It would not see another royal visitor until 1603.

To be a pilgrim 

IT isn’t difficult to imagine one’s self as being a mediaeval pilgrim heading towards Coventry down a quiet country lane, huddled by massive oaks and elms - part of the Forest of Arden - interspersed occasionally by open heathland.
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As one climbs a rise, before you stands the city’s spires reaching high above the greenness of England, Coventry. We pass a wayside cross and cross a stream. the water turns a reddish colour. We cross the grass to an ancient spring marked by a huge boulder and drink the warm but fresh water. There is a scatter of small timbered buildings here – they call it called Radford.

We pass a hazel grove and cross through the middle of Shuckmoor. As we climb Barrs or Luds Hill, we see an ancient church on the left dedicated to St Nicholas.

Crossing the brow the full splendour of Coventry comes into view, spires and towers soar forth amid wooden tiled, timbered houses all surrounded by a magnificent wall, interspersed with huge gates and small squares and round towers.

The city lies in a green bowl with trees and fields all around. Down the hill towards Bishops Gate a huge square gateway, decorated with, what’s that, oh! a head on a pole. It’s nice to know we are now in a civilised place.

As we approach, the daybell tolls and the huge oak studded doors of the Bishop’s Gate swing slowly open. We walk through the gate and again a wonderful sight greets the eyes in the morning sunlight.

The land sweeps down then up, buildings, timbered and stone, huddle the land and are crowned by the magnificent churches on the hilltop, Coventry Priory, Holy Trinity and St Michael.

Down the hill and by Swines Cross gather men with beasts for sale. They stand idly by talking slowly, leaning on their staffs, their green hoods pulled down to their eyes.

On the left is a fine building, half timber half stone, and attached to it a fine chapel with large stained glass window. This is the hospital of St John, where men who once fought in the Holy Land tend to those such as myself, poor travellers, or the sick.

Onwards up the hill over a small stone bridge, then another. Timbered buildings line either side, some richly carved, others poorer, plain, older properties huddled around courtyards. Then left in a narrow lane and by a three storied timber and stone building the guest house of Coventry Priory.

A splendid building adorned with saints, beasts and hunting scenes.

Coventry’s old Bishops love the sport of the field, we saw their moated hunting garage through the gates of Whitmore Park, before we reached Radford.

From here down the narrowness of the lane we can now see the great priory church rising high above us.

We walk up to the Bullring, where a beast stands tied waiting to be baited by dogs. Then through the small square gatehouse and into the cobbled yard.

Here the building rises forth into the sky, the height of 100 men. Saints look down on us above the massive archway which leads into the heart of the building.

Here we are stopped by a man who appears to be a brother of the church, he has bones around his neck, holy relics he tells us, St Bartholamew’s middle finger, St Cecily’s little finger and from under his cloak, a rib, he tells us in a whisper. No ordinary rib this but a rib of Adam.

A great rarity and very valuable but he would give us the honour of purchasing such a gift for a groat.

As my companion considers the offer, another brother walks from the church and strikes the man with a stick and drives him away. He warns us of sellers and vagabonds, then offers me a real relic, a toe nail of St Andrew and only a penny, I bought two.

Onward we go into the grand cathedral of our lady, soaring arches like trees in a forest lead us through the heart of the building, a bell chimes and monks can be heard singing in the silence, theirs prayers to god drift through the building and up to heaven.

On one side in the choir among the wooden seats and rushes two huge stone slabs mark the last resting place of the church’s founders. Earl Leofric and his wife, the Lady Godgifu.

In the opposing chapel stands a small but decorative shrine in which the bones of the Virgin Saint Osburga are displayed. We are informed by an old man that this Saxon saint used to perform miracles, but nothing has happened for years.

We walk under the central tower, a great hollow vault, with huge triple columns on one side and more ancient columns on the other. On one is carved the letters, Ich Hacit Artoris. Here lies Arthur, well, we are told, it worked in Glastonbury.
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We approach the great rood, a huge oak carved screen on top of which is the image of our lord on the cross with a skull at his feet. From here we could go no further. Rules are that beyond this point only the brothers may pass, it is not for such as us.

From here we can see the high alter backed by glass in a curved wall, the bishop’s throne decorated with an elephant and lions attached to the choir stalls. A brother in his black habit scuttles across and lights a candle on the alter itself, crosses himself and leaves.

He passes us and goes into a vaulted room leaving the door open. We look inside, the young man sits amid dozens of vellum sheets and begins to mix colours in an oyster shell. Around him are dozens and dozens of huge thick leather bound books attached to chains.

He invites us in and tells us that in this chained library are books going back to the beginning of recorded time, all knowledge is found here he says. Scripts from the Holy Land to the scripts of Saint Osburga herself.

After some time we bid him farewell, make our prayers to God and leave. Back through the gateway we are suddenly among a vast huddled circle of people, cheering as dogs set their teeth into the flesh of a bull. We stop and struggle to watch as one dog is tossed into the air, yelping in pain, my we did cheer.

Soon the bull could fight no longer and was efficiently poleaxed by one of the street butchers, for here gathered in the Great Butchery are most of the city’s butchers.

The street is indeed a busy place. sheep and beasts wonder around as screaming pigs are butchered and their excess blood tipped into the gully which runs down the middle of the lane.

We walk on, above the timbered buildings on the left we see another building rising up, the church of the Holy Trinity. Right down the Spicerstoke and into the junction of Cross Cheaping and Broadgate, a wide road compared to many others in the street, the heart of Coventry.

Here stands a cross: a plain thing on four columns, perhaps one day they will get a better one. Above it stands the conduit with water constantly pouring forth through lead pipes, we drink and refresh ourselves, wash the grime from our faces.

Today is market day many have set out their goods for sale, vegetables, meat, craftsmen sell metal bowls, decorations, pins and buckles all made in the city. Amid the bustle children are having fun spinning a cage in which a thief has been locked.

This is nothing we are told compared with the recent execution of Heire and Lingham who robbed St Mary’s Guildhall, that was great, the children cried. The children also inform us of a recent affray which took place here in the Broadgate in which three were horribly murdered. There was blood everywhere we were informed, after Sir Humphrey had his head split apart.

We stop at the White Bear for refreshment, ale and meat before walking down Earl Street, past the tower and rubble which was once Coventry Castle, beyond which stands the hall of the merchant guild and council.

Down Little Park Street, past a fine stone merchant’s house and the entrance to the monastery of the Whitefriars. Onwards and through New Gate, which looks much like Bishop Gate except it has a little tower on top. We pass a round tower set within the city wall and note that passing travellers are saluting it.

We enter through a small door and a find a dark painted chamber. Within, surrounded by the glow of candles, stands an image of our lady. This is the famed tower of Our Lady of which we have been told.

The image is draped with rosaries and scattered below it are offerings and prayers for healing written on vellum and slate, even small clay images of body parts that have troubled visitors through sickness. We make our prayers and move on, onwards to St Frideswide’s shrine at Oxford.

Secrets of the Mystery Plays 

ON June 18, 1384, King Richard II visited Coventry and during his stay at Coventry’s Priory he watched Coventry’s famed [image: image16.jpg]


Mystery Plays.

He is but one of many monarchs to have witnessed these marathon events. Many others viewed the spectacle as this anonymous verse attests:

“The state and reverence and show,

Were so attractive, folks would go

From all parts, every year to see

These pageant-plays at Coventry.”

There were three main centres for the mystery play cycle in England – Coventry, York and Chester.

The plays began life as church dramas performed by the clergy, but the idea was soon taken over by various craft guilds, who each held pageant houses (store rooms) in various parts of the city.

The earliest mention of one is that of the drapers guild in Little Park Street in 1392.

The Mystery Plays were usually played on Corpus Christi Day, beginning at the break of day with Creation followed by the Deluge and birth of Christ.

At this point a Mary held the infant in her arms a chorus of Luly Lulay, thou little tiny child, the Coventry Carol, was sung, a carol in the original sense meaning simply a song.

The plays would be performed by Coventry’s various craft guilds on their own pageant wagons, huge mobile stages on wheels, the top being the stage with the dressing and prop room below.

These were dragged around the city to different locations such as Gosford Street, the corner of Much Park Street, by New Gate, Broadgate, Cross Cheaping, near Greyfriar Gate, Bishop and Spon Gates and St Michael’s churchyard.
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The last play occurred around nightfall. This was Doomsday, the end of the world, when all would be judged.

In this there was a huge monstrous head with a massive gaping mouth from which bellowed smoke and flames.

Occasionally the devil would leap out and grab someone and, amid the roars of the crowd, drag them screaming through the mouth and into hell.

Doomsday ended spectacularly with a huge model of the world bursting into flames.

One important character in the pageants was Herod, whose character was outrageous, running around the stage and among the crowds like a madman, brandishing his falchion (sword), crying:

“For I am even he that made both heaven and hell,

And of my might power holdeth up this world round,

Magog and Mandroke, both them did I confound!"

Herod surely confounded many with his ranting and raving. He also left an impression on all who saw him, including a young Will Shakespeare who later wrote “It out-Herods, Herod” with reference to over-acting.

Each of the city’s craft guilds produced its own section of the Mystery Play, providing costumes and props at their own expense.

The trial and execution of Christ and the death of Judas were performed by the Smiths, and the Resurrection and the Harrowing of Hell was performed by the Cardmakers and Cappers.

One favourite place for rehearsal was in the acoustically perfect Saint Mary’s Guildhall, a place which would become a Mecca for actors from the mid 16th century.

Not all those who acted in the plays were craftsmen, for as the mysteries began to get more popular, actors got more involved.

It is said that these actors painted their faces to enhance their expression to the crowds.

Christ and St Peter wore golden wigs and those who whipped Christ wore leather Buckram jerkins decorated with nails and dice.

The saved in the Doomsday play wore pure white leather and the doomed wore blackened faces and yellow clothes painted with flames – each soon found his or her way into the smoking, flaming Hell’s Mouth assisted by a devil with a wool-filled leather club.

Expenses incurred each year mounted up and some records do survive, including:

Paid for five sheepskins for god’s coat and for making . . . three shillings.

Paid for John Croo for mending of Herod’s head (vizored mask) and a mitre and other things . . . two shillings.

Paid to Wattis for dressing of the devil’s head . . . eight pence.

Paid for mending Pilate’s hat . . . four pence.

The Mystery Plays were one of the greatest events in the Coventry calendar, bringing thousands into the city.

In 1584, as England became more anti-papist puritanical, many began to call for the end of the Mystery Plays which smacked of popery.

Others, such as the city’s traders, did not wish to lose the event as it brought in vast profits.

It was decided by some to create a more politically correct play to replace the mysteries.

This was written by John Smythe of Oxford and called the Destruction of Jerusalem. It was a complete failure, being sombre and lacking the humour of the old mysteries.

The last performance allowed of the Mystery cycle was in 1589, but in 1591 the city leet (council) ordered the Destruction of Jerusalem to be played again.

The Smiths Guild paid 20 shillings to excuse themselves from taking part.

Again the play was a failure and it, with the Mysteries it had replaced, disappeared along with Coventry’s long tradition as a centre of the Mystery plays.

All was not lost, however. Mystery Plays are still performed occasionally in the Cathedral ruins.

These are not the original Coventry plays as they are lost; the text called the Ludus Coventriae, once thought to belong to the Coventry cycle, is now thought to have probably originated in the north.

Murder by magic 

IN 1325 a minor favourite of King Edward II died in Coventry, his name Robert de Sowe. This may not seem unusual, but what was unusual were the circumstances of his death – Robert de Sowe was murdered by necromancy, witchcraft.
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The trial of the perpetrators of this event constitutes the earliest recorded witchcraft trial in England and the original records of this case lie hidden away within the vaults of the London Public Record Office.

Events that led to this trial began on a snowy Wednesday night before the Feast of Saint Nicholas (December 6) in 1324.

On this night 27 ‘gentlemen’ of Coventry and Warwickshire gathered at the home of one John de Nottingham, cleric and necromancer at Shortly, now part of the Charterhouse area.

They were there for a serious reason and swore both Nottingham and his assistant Robert Mareschal to secrecy before a spokesman made their request. These men – all wealthy merchants, tradesmen and landowners – complained bitterly of the crushing taxes they had to pay to the king, the Prior of Coventry, Hugh le Despenser, his son (both favourites of the king) and the Earl of Winchester.

Their spokesman, Robert Latoner, asked Nottingham if, for a sum of 20 pounds and maintenance in any religious house in England plus 15 pounds for his assistant, he would be willing to do as he asked.

Robert Mareschal later stated in the court held in Coventry Priory that Latoner had actually asked his master to take on the work of killing the king, the Earl of Winchester, Hugh le Despenser, the Prior of Coventry, and others that he would mention, by his wizardry and his arts.

Nottingham agreed and was once again sworn to secrecy. Seven days after the Feast of Saint Nicholas the men were given part payment, plus four pounds of wax and two rolls of canvas which Nottingham had requested to create images of his victims.

From this material the men made seven images, one of King Edward bearing a crown, one of the Earl of Winchester, the Prior of Coventry, his Cellarer and Seneschal, one of Monsieur Hugh and the final one of Robert de Sowe.

At midnight on the Feast of the Holy Cross, Nottingham set about proving his skills in the black arts. He took the image of Robert de Sowe, cast a spell over it and ordered Mareschal to push a leaden spike into the image’s head. Their work done, they went to bed.

The following morning Mareschal was sent to Sowe’s house to see the results, if any, of the handiwork.

Robert de Sowe, he discovered, had gone mad in the night, shouting and screaming the house down, unable to recognise any of his family or retainers.

Mareschal later informed the court that Sowe remained in the condition until the Sunday before the Feast of the Ascension, when with the agreement of the gentlemen he proved his skills by removing the spike from the head of the image and pushed it into the heart.

Within days Robert de Sowe stopped his ravings and dropped down dead. By now Robert Mareschal was getting uneasy over the whole affair – this was only the beginning and soon the King himself would fall victim to their dabbling.

Such work would no doubt ultimately lead him to a horrible execution. Mareschal cracked and to save his own neck informed the coroner of the king’s household, Simon Croyce, of the whole affair.

By the king’s command, John de Nottingham was arrested and the ‘gentlemen’ informed of the situation; all surrendered themselves to the Sheriff of Coventry.

Robert Mareschal was brought before them and asked to confirm his former accusations which he did willingly.

Not surprisingly, all denied the charges and were committed to the keeping of Robert Dumbleton, the Marshall. Within days, 19 worthies from Coventry, Warwickshire and London visited Dumbleton and bailed out the gentlemen on condition that they returned upon the 15th day after Easter.

These men, no doubt, were part of the extended circle of people interested in the disposal of certain individuals, be they troublesome monarchs or greedy priors. All except Nottingham and Mareschal were released on bail and 24 knights appointed to act as a jury on their trial.

This began on the March 15, 1325 when John de Nottingham, the star witness, was summoned to court. There was, however, a problem for the Marshall Robert Dumbleton informed the court that Nottingham had suddenly and unexpectedly died while imprisoned under his care.

We may wish to believe that Nottingham was struck down with an illness, but considering the situation and the people involved Nottingham was probably struck down by something a bit more substantial, something which would close his mouth forever.

The trial was recalled in a couple of weeks. Mareschal gave his evidence and numerous gentleman swore on their oaths that the accused gentlemen were guilty of nothing, felonies or witchcraft. As for Mareschal, none would speak for him and he was handed back to Dumbleton.

Not surprisingly, he was never heard of again. As for the worthy gentlemen, they walked free of course.

The ultimate aim of the plot was probably the destruction of King Edward II who had grown extremely unpopular because of his homosexual association with the Gascon knight Piers Gaveston and the Despensers, plus the ill treatment of his wife Queen Isabella, who had much influence in Coventry.

Forces did continue against the King which eventually led to his death, not with a leaden pin but a red hot poker.

Queen Isabella - local champion 
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QUEEN Isabella, considered by many a champion for Coventry, was the wife of Edward II. This lady, popularly acknowledged as being most beauteous, suffered greatly at the hands of her husband, who showered his attention and her jewellery on his homosexual lover, Piers Gaveston.

After the murder of Gaveston on Blacklow Hill, near Warwick, the king and queen for a time appeared to grow closer and Isabella gave birth to the future Edward III, followed by three more children.

For much of her life she managed her estates in Castle Rising and occasionally championed causes such as intervening in a dispute between her husband and the barons.

She also represented her husband in France and while there she is thought to have organised a plot to condemn her sisters-in-law to make it easier for her son to inherit the throne of France. Such involvements earned her the unflattering title of the She Wolf of France.

In 1322 Isabella accompanied Edward on his unsuccessful campaign in Scotland. He was forced to flee south and abandoned Isabella at Tynemouth Priory.

When war broke out with France in 1324 Edward, on the advice of his new favourites the Despensers, confiscated Isabella’s estates, reduced her retinue and placed her on an allowance.

When in France as envoy in 1325, she met Roger Mortimer who became her lover. She scandalised society by living openly with him. Soon they decided to take the throne of England and summoned her son Edward (the Prince) to France.

She then refused to return to England until Edward had rid himself of the Despensers. Nothing happened, so in September 1326 they landed a mainly French-based army on English soil and within four months Edward was deposed.

A year later he was dead, murdered in Berkley Castle, it is believed, on the orders of the Queen and Mortimer. Prince Edward was crowned Edward III, but held no power, that lying in the hands of his mother and Mortimer, although a council had been elected to protect the boy’s interests.

Mortimer acquired the power of a king and granted himself the title of Earl of March. Seeing Mortimer’s greed and power getting out of hand, Edmund the Earl of Kent, (brother of Edward II) who was officially guardian of the young king, saw a threat to the boy as Mortimer considered the crown for himself.

He tried to stand up to Mortimer but had to flee and had his estates confiscated and ransacked. He returned only by payment of a heavy fine. Isabella and Mortimer would not let matters rest and created a plot to entrap and destroy the Earl.

Through forged letters and priests they convinced him that Edward II, his brother was still alive and needed his help. The earl wrote letters to his dead brother promising help and these went straight into the hands of Mortimer who used them to accuse him of treason and he was duly arrested and imprisoned.

Just in case the young king took pity on his uncle the execution was rushed forward, but no one would do the deed of beheading the earl, the old king’s brother, who was greatly respected.

Finally an executioner was found, an inmate of Marshalsea Prison who was promised a reprieve from his death sentence if he carried out the deed. Mortimer gave the earl’s lands to his brother and continued to gain power.

Edward, by this time 18 years old, was married with a son a few months old, Edward the Black Prince. The general conduct of the queen and Mortimer was now becoming a major scandal and talk was that the queen was pregnant.

Edward decided he had to act to take the power which was rightfully his. He began to arrange the downfall of Mortimer with certain lords he could trust.

It was to take place during a sitting of Parliament he had called at Nottingham where his mother and Mortimer were staying. Mortimer attended followed by his retinue and, in a rage, directly accused Edward King of England of plotting against him.

Edward denied it and Mortimer called him a liar before the council as it fell apart. Mortimer returned to the castle and doubled the guard, but the king, with others, secretly entered at night through hidden passages and burst in on Mortimer with two of his friends who they duly killed when they made a stand.

Then the queen burst into the room from her bedchamber and, seeing what was happening, pleaded with the king to spare her gentle Mortimer. The following day Mortimer was brought before Parliament and accused of treason and sentenced to death on the charges of having usurped the power of the lords who were to protect the king during his regency, of having procured the death of the late king, for the plotting and murder of the Earl of Kent, dissipating public treasures, embezzling 20,000 marks paid by the King of the Scots and other offences too numerous to mention.

Mortimer was hanged in London on November 29, 1330, the fate of a common criminal.

Edward finally took control of his kingdom, banished his mother to her estate at Castle Rising, abolished her extravagant lifestyle and gave her a yearly allowance of 4,000 pounds.

There she passed her final 26 years, banned from interfering in matters concerning the nation and visited by her son only once or twice a year. At this time she inherited the manor and manor house of Cheylesmore in Coventry through Robert and Emma Montalt, as they left no heirs.

Cheylesmore thereafter became a royal residence, a palace, one could say. Having now only her Castle Rising estates to deal with the acquisition of part of Coventry gave Isabella some diversion.

The first thing she came across was that the Prior of Coventry was constantly trying to expand his power and ownership in the city, which made him more than unpopular in the city.

The queen, not one to put up with such matters, swiftly set about clipping his wings. In 1335 she began to seize land which she claimed the prior had no right to hold. The prior felt his power slipping away and threatened to set up his own moot and trade centre, thereby splitting the city.

Isabella instituted the Charter of Incorporation in 1345 which gave the citizens of Coventry the right to elect their own mayor and bailiffs. This gave the citizens of Coventry some control over their own city, now they were the lords and not the tenants of the prior.

Isabella finally broke the priors power with the Tripartite Indenture in 1355 which required him to relinquish many of his earlier claims on the city and much of his power.

She was not adverse to helping in religious affairs when the Greyfriars wrote to her telling of the interference of the Prior’s more powerful Benedictine order in their customs.

She wrote back to the mayor: To our very dear and good friends the Mayor, Bailiffs and Commons of Coventry Dear and Good Friends. Our beloved in God, the Friars Minors of Coventry, which are the foundation of our very honourable son, the King, have certified to us that their customs, viz., processions and burials, are unreasonably impeded to the great hindrance of divine service there, in consideration of which we will that you aid the said beloved in God, that they may enjoy all their customs, as they have formerly been accustomed to do, and that touching this matter they may not have further cause of complaint. Dear and good friends we leave this in your care....

Another notable event concerning Isabella was the granting of land to the Guild of St John the Baptist (later to become part of the Trinity Guild) to build Bablake church on condition that the priests there said prayers for the souls of the king and her grandson the Black Prince.

Queen Isabella died at Castle Rising in 1358. Her estates, including Cheylesmore, then valued at £100 a year, were inherited by her grandson, Edward of Woodstock, the Black Prince.

On his way to his grandmother’s funeral on September 19 1358, he stopped, maybe for the first time, at his new Coventry estate. Although we have no written evidence, it is said that the Black Prince when passing through the area often visited his Coventry seat, for here there was good hunting.

Edward of Woodstock was born in Woodstock in 1330 and became Prince of Wales in 1334. Edward accompanied his father on campaigns from an early age and at the age of 16 years won his spurs at the battle of Crecy in 1346.

It is said that during the battle the young prince looked to be in trouble and some of the lords warned the king. The king, however, told the knights to leave him be “for this day he will win his spurs”, and he did.

After this battle the prince was told that blind king John of Bohemia, when all was lost, commanded two of his knights to tie their bridles to his and take him into the fray. This was done and the king and knights were slaughtered.

Edward thought the blind king so brave that he took his emblem for his own (this was the three feathers and the motto Ich Dein – I Serve). Since that day all Princes of Wales have used this emblem.

Coventry too was given the right to use the crest and it appears as part of the decoration in St Mary’s Guildhall. Tradition states that the Black Prince was an early visitor to the hall and of this there can be little doubt as the city would have felt the need to entertain such a noble lord in their great hall.

In the hall is also a chamber called the Prince’s Chamber, a 16th century name created at the same time as the title of Black Prince because the prince wore black armour.

On the city crest can also be found the city motto, Camera Principis, referring to Coventry as the ‘Princes Chamber’. Edward of Woodstock, as he was known in his own time, spent most of his life fighting wars, first against the French then in Spain as an ally to Pedro the Cruel, deposed King of Castile.

Worn out by campaigning, Edward retired back to England in 1371 where he put down his sword and took up politics. He died in 1376, a year before his father Edward III and was buried in Canterbury Cathedral.

Combat on Gosford Green 

 THE year 1398 saw one of the greatest anti-climaxes in national history taking place, or rather, not taking place on Coventry’s Gosford Green.
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Here, on this now shrunken sward of grass, gathered the king and all the nobility of the realm to witness a fight to the death between Thomas Mowbray, Duke of Norfolk and Henry Bolingbroke, Duke of Hereford.

Thomas Mowbray was the Constable of Calais and believed to have been the king’s agent in the murder of the Duke of Gloucester for which he received his dukedom.

Henry Bolingbroke, a descendant of Henry III, another favourite of the King, was elevated at the same time.

This event began in a country lane between London and Brentford when the Duke of Norfolk uttered words which the Duke of Hereford thought dishonourable to the king.

Hereford used the opportunity to brand Norfolk with a charge of treason, this Norfolk denied.

At first King Richard tried to reconcile the two dukes, but to no avail. The king told Hereford to put his charges on paper and it would be dealt with by parliament.

Things quickly moved on and both men accused each other of treason and were arrested. Hereford was bailed and appeared at the parliament, but Norfolk could not find bail.

Before all assembled, Hereford added further accusations, in that Norfolk was responsible for the murder of his uncle the Duke of Gloucester.

Parliament decided that Hereford could not prove his case and told him that if he could not prove his charges it would have to be referred to trial by combat.

In a second selected meeting controlled by the king sitting at Windsor in April 1398 it was concluded that Hereford and Norfolk must meet at Coventry on September 17, St Lambert’s Day, on Gosford Green and prove his words against the Duke of Norfolk in combat.

He who survived the ordeal, with the help of God, would be innocent. The forthcoming combat was heralded throughout the land and Hereford and Norfolk began preparations.

Hereford had a new suit of armour constructed by the armourers of the King of Milan and Hereford’s armour was made by armourers of Germany.

Thousands headed for Coventry to witness two nobles fight to the death.

The Duke of Norfolk spent the night at his castle at Caludon, a piece of which still stands to this day. Hereford slept at Baginton Castle, home of Sir William Bagot.

Hereford armed himself in his tent which was set up near the lists and Norfolk dressed in a large house surrounded by a wood which stood between the green and Gosford Gate. The Duke of Aumarle and the duke of Surrey took control of the list with men carrying pikes.

The constable and marshall approached Hereford and officially demanded aloud for what reason he had come to the city.

Hereford answered loudly: “I am Henry of Lancaster, Duke of Hereford. I have come here to do my endeavour against Thomas Mowbray, Duke of Norfolk, as a traitor, untrue to God, the king, his realm and me.”

He then unsheathed his sword, held it before him and swore that his quarrel was true and just and re-sheathed it before entering the lists, dismounting and sitting in a great chair covered in green velvet.

Next entered King Richard, accompanied by all the peers of the realm. The king took his seat upon the great dais followed by the peers.

Then a proclamation was called that no man could approach the field of combat on pain of death. The proclamation concluded, a herald called out: “Behold Henry of Lancaster, Duke of Hereford, appellant has entered this royal lists to do his endeavour against Thomas Mowbray, Duke of Norfolk, defendant, upon pain to be found false and recreant.”

Meanwhile, the Duke of Norfolk, who was mounted, held his horse back at the entrance to the lists. He made his oath before the constable and marshall that his quarrel was just and true and entered the field saying aloud ‘God aid him that hath the right’.”

Norfolk then dismounted and took his chair at the other end of the lists.

The Lord Marshall checked that each man’s lance was of the same length, personally gave Hereford his and sent the other in the hands of a knight to Norfolk.

The Duke of Hereford leapt on to his horse, dropped his visor, threw his lance into its rest and, as the trumpet sounded, his horse reared, then thundered forward towards the adversary.

Norfolk had just begun to move forward when suddenly the king cast down his sceptre and heralds rushed into the lists shouting “Ho! Ho!”

Hereford, shocked by events, quickly reined his horse in while Norfolk stumbled to a halt. As the men circled in agitated states on their restless steeds it was called for them to give over their lances and re-take their seats. This they did for two long hours while King Richard and his peers took council.

Eventually, heralds called for silence and the king’s secretary Sir John Bushy read aloud the result of over two hours of deliberation. A stunned crowd listened intently as Sir John read from a long scroll.

It stated that Henry, Duke of Hereford should within 15 days leave the realm, never to return for ten years, unless the king ordered him, on pain of death.

He was, however, given a yearly income of £2,000, but had his estates confiscated. As for Mowbray, Duke of Norfolk, because he had sown “sedition in the realme by his words” was to leave the realm and never return upon pain of death.

His property was also confiscated except for a yearly allowance of £1,000.

Both men were then summoned to stand before the king at the dais and swear an oath that they would not continue their argument abroad.

This they did, then along with a vast and somewhat disappointed gathering they left the field of combat, stunned by the events of the day.

The Duke of Norfolk departed the realm into Almaine and at the last came to Venice where he died from melancholy. It was reported that when Hereford left via Kent, 40,000 Londoners came to see him leave, in tears and lamentations.

The exile of Henry Bolingbroke after the duel in Coventry would literally change the course of history. Any allegiance he had held to the monarch before had grown thin and the final straw came in 1399 when his father John of Gaunt died and Richard confiscated his vast estates of which Henry was heir.

In June 1399 while Richard was campaigning in Ireland Henry landed in England with an army and claimed the throne by descent through Henry III and Edward III.

Richard returned in August and was forced to abdicate.

His last journey through Coventry and Warwickshire was as a prisoner. He was imprisoned in Pontefract Castle where in 1400 he met an untimely end, murdered it is believed by order of Henry, the man he had exiled at Coventry on that mild September day only one year previous.

So began the reign of the Lancastrians, and Coventry's close connection with the House of Lancaster. Henry was crowned Henry IV and in 1404 Henry summoned a sitting of Parliament to take place in Coventry.

Henry needed more money, but Parliament not wishing to tax the people called on a contribution from the church arguing that while they fought foreign armies and contributed money, the clergy sat safe at home making no contribution.

The Parliament sat for over a month arguing in the Great Hall of St Mary’s Priory before finally agreeing to pay the king more money.

The church, as before, paid nothing. In 1405 Richard Scrope, Archbishop of York declared himself anti-Lancastrian and was executed by Henry.

In 1408 Henry was affected by an unknown disease which many said was God’s vengeance on him, for Scrope’s execution.

He died in the Jerusalem Chamber in Westminster Abbey in 1413, living up to a prophecy which said he would die in Jerusalem, which of course Henry believed to be the Holy Land.

Cornerstone of the defences 
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IN 1639, when Taylor the Water Poet arrived in Coventry on his tour of England, he noted that Coventry was, a “faire, famous, sweet and ancient city, so walled with such strength and neatness as no city in England may compare with it”.

The City Wall which made Coventry the strongest city in the centre of England was begun in January 1329 when Edward III gave the Prior and citizens the right to duty on goods over a period of six years, to pay for the building of a strong wall to enclose the city.

Nothing, however, happened until 1355 when the mayor, Richard Stoke, is recorded in the city annals as laying the foundation stone for the New Gate on the London Road. Again progress was slow and in 1363 Edward III renewed his grant to the “Mayor Bailiffs, and Goodmen of the city of Coventry to [image: image22.jpg]


enclose with a wall of stone and lime”. 
Money would be gained through the following market taxes: a farthing for every sheep sold, four pence for every hog and ox, a penny for every calf, two shillings for every cask of wine, and four pence for every quarter of malt.

In 1385 Richard II gave stone from his quarry, known as the Park Hollows (later the site of the burning of the Coventry Martyrs in Cheylesmore), to build the double-towered Greyfriars Gate at the beginning of Greyfriars Lane, then the main route into the city from the south.

The stone was given on the understanding that the royal residence, Cheylesmore Manor House, the successor of Coventry Castle, was enclosed within the wall.

This it was and very closely too, for when the sandstone-based, timber-topped manor house was being excavated it was found that the city wall ran within about 15 feet of the corner of the rear of the building. Richard later also gave stone for the building of Spon Gate, by St John the Baptist Church.
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The wall zig-zagged 2¾ miles around the city following land boundaries and enclosed establishments of those who cared to contribute personally.

It was between 12 and 15 feet high and about nine feet thick. Around it, arching across the roads, were 12 gates, these were Bishop Gate (Bishop Street), Gosford Gate (Gosford Street), New Gate (London Road, also known as the Whitley Causeway), Greyfriars Gate (Warwick Lane/Greyfriars Lane) and Spon Gate (Spon Street). The minor gates were Cook Street or Tower Gate (Cook Street), Swanswell Gate, also known as Priory or Stour Gate (Hales Street), Bastille or Mill Lane Gate (Cox Street), Little Park Gate (Little Park Street), Cheylesmore Gate (Warwick Road), Bablake or Hill Gate (Hill Street) and Well Street Gate (Well Street).

Whitefriars Gate, built in 1352 was not part of the city wall but the entrance of Whitefriars Monastery. Interspersed between these gates were many square and round towers, used for many things from storage to mounting guns.
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The entire wall was also surrounded by a ditch, the City Ditch, which in times of trouble could be flooded from the Sherbourne or Radford Brook. The construction of the wall is said to have ended by 1400, but some have argued in the past that it was not completed until the 1530s.

The argument is based on the fact that there are records showing payments for work on the wall and taxes being collected for it. This, however, is most likely to be for the various extensions and changes made and repairs.

The fact that Coventry had been under military threat a number of times before 1500 and remained untouched suggests that the wall was defensively complete. Edward IV, for instance, had the opportunity to place Coventry and the outnumbered Earl of Warwick under a state of siege but chose not to.
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This would not suggest that Coventry had a half finished wall around it. The citizens of Coventry sat safely within the walls of their city and paid a tax for its upkeep called the Murage Tax (after the Latin murus, meaning wall).

After nine at night the city gates were closed and no one could enter until the ringing of the day bell at about six in the morning. Those who arrived after this time would have to bide in places such as the chapel of St Christopher and St James in Spon Street.

During times of trouble, men were elected from each ward of the city to guard the walls, what was known as ‘watch and ward’.

They were needed in times such as in 1395, when William Bagot of Baginton Castle rode on the city with 200 armed men and tried unsuccessfully to breach two of the city gates.

In 1450 Coventry was on general alert as an army of 30,000, led by commoner Jack Cade, took London and the royal court moved to the safety of Coventry.

Not knowing what might happen, the city took in thousands of troops and two massive bronze serpentine cannon were brought from Bristol and mounted on Spon and New Gate. Thankfully for Coventry, Cade’s rebellion fell apart mainly due to the savage behaviour of the rebels.

Pardons were promised and the Kentish Army broke up. Cade did reach Coventry, or to be precise part of him did. What part is not clear, but it found its way onto a spiked pole adorning one of the city gates, a warning to other would-be rebels. The walls would remain an important part of the city’s defences until their destruction in 1662.

A symbol of the city 
 COVENTRY first began using its well known elephant and castle arms in the 13th century. The elephant’s origins are curious and in Coventry it is used purely as a symbol of strength.
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It was believed that the elephant was the strongest beast in the world and it was capable of carrying a castle on its back. Therefore the elephant and castle became a double symbol of strength.

This has no connection with the well known story that it is a corruption of the Infants of Castile, in that the English people couldn’t say the word and it was turned into the elephant and castle.

This story (and indeed it is a story) was circulated in the mid 19th century by intellectuals to see if it would be taken into the oral history of the common man. On Coventry’s early seals behind the elephant is an oak tree, again a symbol of strength.
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It is also probably connected with the belief in early medieval times that the elephant had no knees and couldn’t lie down to sleep. The elephant therefore had its own favourite tree which it would sleep against.

The mediaeval books of beasts, known as bestiaries, went further and informed the reader on how to catch an elephant. It was simple – all you had to do when the elephant left its tree in the morning to feed, was to cut three quarters of the way through the tree so that when the elephant came back at night he would lean against his tree and, crack!, come crashing to the floor.

Having no knees, the poor beast was unable to escape its captor. Christianity noted this early belief and connected the story with a baby elephant, which was symbolic of Christ which would pull the elder elephant back onto its feet. This symbolised Christ, saviour of mankind.

The elephant was and still is shown against a background of a shield, half red and half green. This represents the joint diocese of Coventry (red) and Lichfield (green).
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On top of the early arms stood a cat on a mountain, or wildcat.

The cat is a symbol of watchfulness; this was taken from the belief that the lion slept with its eyes open, ever alert, ever watchful. There may also be some connection in its use in the Coventry arms with the Black Prince, Edward of Woodstock, who owned part of Coventry.

The cat could be found decorating the prince’s great war helm. The Black Prince is also connected by the city legend under the arms, Camera Principis which means the Prince’s Chamber.

This relates to Coventry itself, the Prince’s Chamber, the room in St Mary’s Hall which bears the name has no connection with the prince and didn’t acquire its name until the late 16th century. The complete arms as it appears today has the closed helm which represents a borough and two supporters which date from 1952.

These are the black eagle of Earl Leofric and the phoenix rising from the ashes representing the city’s resurrection after the horrors of war.

Expansion of the Church


IN another article we looked at the arrival of the Greyfriars in Coventry and their popularity.

Most of Warwickshire’s 254 churches were in existence by the 13th century, but there was originally more, mainly small 12th century chapels which disappeared for various reasons, like depopulation, caused by landlords or plague.

The 13th, 14th and 15th centuries were great times for expansion in population and accordingly extensions to churches. During the mid 14th century, however, building slowed drastically as the Black Death took its toll among the artisans.

Coventry Priory, Warwickshire’s greatest church, was rebuilt in the late 13th century on a grand scale swallowing up or completely destroying any remains of Leofric and Godiva’s monastery.

Much of the present remains of the building date from this period known as Early English. Tradition states that its founder’s remains were re-interred in the choir of the new magnificent building.

Other work was carried out in the late 14th to early 15th century. It is recorded in the Register of Bishop Roger de Norbury that he gave 40 days indulgence to anyone who contributed cash towards the fabric of the building.

The second priory Cathedral and cloisters, etc took in land bounded by Priory Row, Trinity Street, Pool Meadow and Priory Street.

Its stone gatehouse stood on the site of the present Wetherspoons in Trinity Street overlooking an open market square. This area would later slowly be infilled by streets such as Great and Little Butcher Rows, Palmer Lane, etc.

Behind the gatehouse, across a small, wide, cobbled courtyard, soaring into the sky, was the massive decorative facade and entrance to the priory.

Huge towers stood on both sides with a massive arched doorway in the centre. Soaring above and around this, a mass of carving, arches, buttresses and figures decorated the front, an awesome sight for the mediaeval peasant.

This building, with its huge central tower which stood just before the narrow lane called Hill Top, ran 425 feet along the length of the present Priory Row. This was nearly double the size of the ruins of the present St Michael’s.

Much speculation has been made in the past on how this building looked – many believe it looked like Lichfield. This is based on a seal found in the 19th century, although as Coventry and Lichfield were a joint diocese, the seal may be of course depicting Lichfield and not Coventry.

Another seal, now lost, is thought to have shown the priory looking like Canterbury. This would fit in with its style and period, as would Salisbury.

It is therefore impossible to say exactly what it looked like above ground level, except it had two towers (with or without spires) either side of the entrance, a huge central tower (with or without a spire) and followed the usual cruciform plan.

The Priory had a noted library, all now lost, and pilgrims continued to visit the building to pray before the various relics. St Osburga’s tomb still produced the odd miracle and in 1462, she was rehoused in a more prominent part of a newer section of the building.

October 13 was set aside as the saint’s birthday, another celebration was a mass held in memory of Godiva and Leofric, the founders.

The priory held a growing collection of saintly remains, including relics of Thomas a Becket, St Andrew, St James, St Cecily, St Laurence, St Catherine, St Jerome and relics of the Virgin Mary and a piece of the true cross.

Visitors to these relics could stay in local inns and more notably Pilgrims Rest, the Priory’s guest house in Palmer Lane. The original inn appears to have been a timbered building heavily decorated with religious carvings, some of which still survive in St Mary’s Guildhall.

These monastic guesthouses constituted some of the finest inns in the land. There were,at the time of its foundation, only 24 monks and a prior in the priory, plus the many people associated with it.

The Bishop of Coventry and Lichfield, although now based back in Lichfield, made regular visits to the city. While here he stayed in the Bishop’s Palace now under the site of the new Cathedral.

He presided over the priory from his throne which was placed in the cathedral choir. This throne may have survived as what we now call the guild chair in St Mary’s Guildhall. The chair bears religious symbolism and hunting scenes (the bishop’s favourite pastime).

It also bear the emblems of Coventry and Lichfield and the seal of the priory. It came to the hall over 30 years after the dissolution fo the priory, from the hall of the Corpus Christi Guild.

One outstanding incident which took place in 1301 concerns Walter Langton, Bishop of Coventry and Lichfield and Lord Treasurer of England. Langton was accused by Sir John Lovetot of being in league with the devil.

Lovetot also accused the bishop of murdering his father, committing adultery with his stepmother and cashing in on selling church favours. Langton denied all charges and was summoned to Rome to appear before Pope Boniface VIII.

He waited in Rome for an audience for seven months then was returned to England to face a special commission led by the Archbishop of Canterbury. Langton called for 37 witnesses to his innocence and after a long and difficult trial he was found innocent of all charges.

It took him over two years to repay the cost of his own trial. He now lies in Lichfield Cathedral.

Other visitors to the priory, included royalty, such as Henry V who stayed in royal apartments within the building, a tradition which had carried on since Leofric and Godiva’s time.

It is recorded in the city annals in 1411 that the Prince of Wales (later Henry V) was arrested in the priory in a drunken state by the Mayor, John Horneby. There are many tales of Henry’s wild exploits in his youth, many with John Falstaff, a claimed Coventrian.

As no one in Coventry at the time had the power to arrest the heir to the throne it is more likely that this entry, which had been copied a number of times, should read the Prince of Wales RESTED in the Priory.

Henry’s son Henry VI became a regular to the priory, a suitable place for such a pious man, when he based the royal court here during the War of the Roses.

Once again the great chamber of the priory became the home to an English parliament and it was from here that the Duke of York, who had a claim to the crown, was outlawed. 

Coventry’s other great church is the church of St Michael which up until 1918 was the largest parish church in England.

The church began life as a small chapel within the castle site belonging to the Earl of Chester. The later church, which with Trinity was held by the Priory, was thought to have been mainly built by rich city merchants the Botoners.

There was once a brass tablet in the church which bore this verse: William and Adam built the Tower, Ann and Mary built the Spire; William and Adam built the Church, Ann and Mary built the Choir.

It is known that William and Adam Botoner, who were each thrice mayor of Coventry paid £100 a year for 22 years to build the tower from 1373 to 1394. The spire was added in 1430 and is nearly 300 feet high, the third tallest in England.

As for the other references on the plaque we have no evidence although we also have no reasons to doubt it. The Botoners surely paid well for their place in heaven. Within the church were a number of guild chapels associated mainly with the city’s most powerful craft guilds.

These included the Draper’s Chapel, Girdler’s Chapel, Dyer’s Chapel, Capper’s Chapel and Mercer’s Chapel. Each of these guilds employed priests to attend their individual chapels and sing and say prayers to benefit the souls of guild members, past and present.

The building’s greatest moment in the period was the visit of Henry VI to take mass in 1451. It is believed the West Porch was made purely as a grand entrance for this event.

The days when justice was swift 

A BOOK titled Criminals, Courts and Conflict gives history lovers a unique insight into how the legal system in 14th century Coventry swiftly dealt with thugs, robbers and murderers.

THE motley selection of criminals appearing before the courts included murderers, robbers and petty thieves. It could be a hearing at Coventry magistrates or crown court. Certainly the locations and characters are all familiar.

But some offenders died of the black death before being brought to justice. Their crimes and punishments actually took place in mediaeval Coventry.

Consigned to record books and forgotten with the passage of time, their experiences and misdemeanours have now been brought back to life in a new book - Criminals, Courts and Conflict - A Study of Crime and Litigation in 14th Century Coventry.

Published posthumously by Dr Eileen Gooder as a tribute to her late husband, the historian Dr Arthur Gooder who died in 1992, it is a collection of detailed accounts taken from ancient archives kept in Coventry, Warwickshire and London.

It illustrates how the justice system has changed, but not the people it serves.

Unlike now, in mediaeval Coventry jurors were hand picked because they might know the culprit and who hit who or who stole what, and court cases and inquests were somewhat speedier. A verdict naming a killer could be delivered within 24 hours.

Jurors were not strangers impartially weighing up the evidence, but townspeople telling what they knew. The language used in court was also hardly unbiased.

A murder and robbery at the Priory refers to the villain "outrageously" striking three people on the head. It goes on to say it was "with an axe worth twopence".

The bizarre inclusion of the weapon's value relates to the pickings available to the exchequer. Alongside the desire for justice was the crown's pressing need for money.

The sheer amount of detail researched in retirement by Dr Gooder, a former tutor for north Warwickshire for Birmingham University's Extramural Department, has delighted Coventry Archives, which has many of the original records and helped to publish the book. ..TEXT: City archivist Sue Worrall says one of her favourite anecdotes relates to an almost Chaucer-esque description of one city robbery which took place on the evening of May 31, 1357, when Hugh de Wenlok attempted to rob the home of a widow called Isabel.

He broke through a wall but had got only half way when she sprang out of bed naked and hit him on the head with a staff.

Raising a hue and cry she attracted keepers of the peace, including a man called William who carried a lighted candle, and discovered the villain hiding under a chest.

As he called on him to surrender he was attacked by the cornered culprit with a knife, and in self-defence, himself took a knife from the hand of a stranger and stabbed Hugh to death through the heart.

Sue says: "You don't think of someone jumping through windows to rob people in mediaeval times but there were similar cases to the type you would hear about now, it's just a different time. It's still all about robbery and drinking ale!

"It's in the records but no-one but this chap has taken the time and effort to go through it and pull out all the information. The detail is wonderful and it brings it to life for people. It's amazing."

She says the justice system was well known by citizens who had plenty of opportunity to see it at work and a high chance of serving as a juror. Fines and imprisonment were common but there was also corporal punishment such as stocks and hangings.

"I'm sure there was no more or less crime than there is now, it was just more in your face. If something happened they were in there quite quickly and they sorted it. Because it was a small community everyone knew everyone.

"If someone was in town who was a stranger, people were going to pick up on them and everyone knew each other through the guilds. They were working together and they were living next door to each other."

The book reveals much about the colour of life in the walled city. It had great wealth and trade with Europe and would have been cosmopolitan. Lists of jurors reveal the many trades, including wool merchants, tailors, weavers, shoe makers and cartwrights.

It was a time when many fine buildings went up, such as St Mary's Guildhall, and in 1345 Coventry received the right to have a mayor reflecting its status in the kingdom, and a couple of years later its own coroner.

Sue, who hopes the book will enthuse people about Coventry's history and encour age them to use the city's archives for themselves, says: "It tells of a lot more than just law and order. Coventry was one of the most important cities in the country at this point and it must have been a tremendously vibrant place.
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